1983

State of Utah v. Thomas F. Dyer : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

The State of Utah filed an Information charging the defendant with murder in the second degree, a felony of the first degree, in violation of Section 76-5-203, Utah Criminal Code, as amended. Subsequent thereto, the State of Utah amended the Information charging the defendant with the crime of manslaughter, a felony of the second degree, in violation of Section 76-5-205, Utah Criminal Code, as amended.

The charging part of the amended Information accused the defendant as follows:

"[That] THOMAS PETERSON DYER did recklessly cause the death of Nina Marie Fuelleman."

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried in the Fourth Judicial District Court in

and for Utah County, State of Utah, sitting in Provo, Utah, on March 3 and 4, 1982, with the Honorable J. Robert Bullock, Judge, presiding.

The case was heard without a jury pursuant to defendant's Waiver of a Jury Trial. Judge Bullock rendered a judgment finding that he could not find the defendant guilty of manslaughter beyond a reasonable doubt. After a subsequent hearing Judge Bullock found the defendant guilty of negligent homicide.

The defendant was sentenced to a term of one year in the Utah County Jail and to pay a fine in the amount of \$1,000.00.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the judgment of the lower Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the late evening of August 21, 1981, defendant, in the company of his brother, Rob, and the victim, went to a tavern known as the Forrest Inn, where all partook of alcoholic beverages. All three left the Forrest Inn at approximately 1:30 o'clock a.m. (August 22, 1981) and arrived at the residence of defendant and Rob at about 2:00 a.m. Defendant and Rob were arguing as they arrived at their residence. Victim went upstairs to the second floor and defendant and Rob pursued the argument on the first floor. The argument culminated when Rob struck defendant several times, knocked him down, and began choking defendant. Defendant never struck back, and was passive during the fight. The argument was over prior to the time that the rifle was discharged. (R. 308, Line 30, 309, Lines 1-5)

During the argument the victim was upstairs on the second

floor, and the defendant and Rob were on the first floor.

Rob let defendant up, and defendant went to the bedroom where he obtained a .30-.30 caliber lever action rifle. Rob had used the rifle last (R. 305, Line 4). Rob testified that he never did see defendant use the gun after Rob had used it (R. 305, Lines 9-10).

The first recollection that Rob testified to was that he saw the gun exploding (R. 294, Line 2). Rob's testimony was that at no time was the gun pointed in his direction (R. 294, Line 15; 307, Lines 14-16; 312, Line 22). Rob testified that the rifle was pointed down and not in his direction (R. 294, line 19). Rob testified that the gun was never at any time used by the defendant to threaten Rob (R. 307, lines 10-15; 310, lines 5-9). Rob testified that the defendant did not draw the gun with the intention of shooting (R. 307, lines 5-13). The State did not produce any evidence showing that the defendant loaded the gun or knew that the gun was loaded. The gun was accidentally discharged (R. 300, Line 28; 308, Lines 6-9), causing the death of the victim who, unknown to both defendant and Rob, had walked from the second floor to the first floor.

ARGUMENT

The Points in appellant's argument are intended to present to the Court legal premises in an order which, if accepted by the Court as a basis for reversal, would preclude consideration of subsequent points.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT IS WITHOUT AUTHORITY TO CONSIDER A LESSER AND INCLUDED OFFENSE IN VIEW OF ITS FINDING OF NOT GUILTY AS TO

THE CHARGE OF MANSLAUGHTER.

(A) The Fifth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States of America provides,

"[N]or shall any person be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb...".

At the conclusion of argument by counsel, the Court, in essence, rendered a verdict of not guilty to the charge of manslaughter:

"THE COURT: Okay. I am convinced -- well, let's put it another way: that the evidence is not convincing that the defendant intentionally pulled the trigger on the rifle. I'd have to find that, I think, in order to find this man guilty of the offense charged beyond a reasonable doubt, and I can't do that. However, I agree with what you say with respect to the negligence involved in bringing a loaded, taking a loaded rifle under the circumstances, being intoxicated, having it on his lap, having it in a condition that it can be discharged accidentally with people around, and I believe that that is negligent homicide under Section 76-5-206. However, I'm not going to pass sentence--strike that. I'm not going to find that he's guilty of that offense this afternoon. I'm going to give you an opportunity to brief the law on that matter, and you can come back here tomorrow morning." (R. 355, lines 7-22)

Neither plaintiff nor defendant requested a lesser included offense.

(B) The State unilaterally amended the charge to manslaughter.

Defense counsel, on the other hand, based upon what he determined was in the best interests of defendant, took the strategic position that the evidence would not sustain a conviction of manslaughter.

The trial court held that the evidence was not sufficient to support a conviction of manslaughter. The trial judge entered into the prosecutorial strategy of the case by reevaluating the case when he determined that the charge should have been

negligent homicide. The strategy of the defense, having been an all or nothing approach, was also violated. It needs to be accepted at this point that a cardinal rule of trial practice regarding the three principal participants (the judge, and the two opposing lawyers) is that (1) the judge will not act in any manner which will influence the outcome of the trial; and (2) the opposing lawyers are entitled to their strategy in dealing with their case. In the present case, the judge modified the rules. He challenged and defeated the competency of the prosecutor; he in essence told the prosecutor that his evaluation of the case was wrong. The Judge, by his actions, deprived the defense attorney of conducting that strategy which, in his judgment, was in the best interest of his client.

(C) The State of Utah has previously taken a position that is consistent with and supports the position urged by the defendant in this case.

In State v. Boggess (Case No. 16232), the State of Utah argued:

"...the appellant did not establish any basis upon which he could be convicted of the lesser offense because he desired an acquittal based on an all or nothing theory of the defense. In State v. Mora, 588 P.2d 1335 (Utah, 1977) this Court distinguished situations similar to this one and stated that lesser included offense instructions were not absolutely necessary where the appellant was attempting an all or nothing theory of defense." (Page 4)

"...The appellant was informed of his options by his counsel and decided to attempt to gain an acquittal by proceeding on an all or nothing defense theory...". (Page 5-6)

POINT II

NEGLIGENT HOMICIDE IS NOT A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF

MANSLAUGHTER.

From a statutory point of view, the Code does not specifically provide that negligent homicide is a lesser included offense of manslaughter. Section 76-2-101, Utah Code Annotated, defines the "requirements of criminal conduct and criminal responsibility" as follows:

"No person is guilty of an offense unless his conduct is prohibited by law and:

(1) He acts intentionally, knowingly, recklessly or with criminal negligence with respect to each element of the offense as the definition of the offense requires; or

(2) His acts constitute an offense involving strict liability."

The states of mind that will sustain a conviction are set forth disjunctively as "intentionally, knowingly, recklessly or with criminal negligence". The issue is whether the mental state sufficient to establish criminal negligence is a lesser and included aspect of recklessly. It is the position of the defendant that it is not.

In view of the fact that convictions on the charge of manslaughter may be obtained on proof of facts other than reckless conduct, [Section 76-2-206 (b) and (c)], negligent homicide cannot be deemed a lesser and included offense thereof. The statutory language defining "recklessly" and "with criminal negligence" [Section 76-2-103 (3) and (4), Utah Code Annotated] are similar with the following exceptions:

(3)

Recklessly, or maliciously,

(4)

with criminal negligence
or is criminally negligent

with respect to circumstances

surrounding his conduct or the
result of his conduct when he

is aware of but consc- ought to be aware of
iously disregards

a substantial and unjustifiable
risk that the circumstances
exist or the result will occur.
The risk must be of such a
nature and degree that

its disregard the failure to perceive it

constitutes a gross deviation
from the standard of care that
an ordinary person would exercise

under in

all the circumstances as viewed
from the actor's standpoint.

Section 76-5-201, Utah Code Annotated, specified five different designations of homicide. Thereafter, in the same chapter, each designation is defined as to the act and intent necessary to make it out. The victim in each designation is no less dead as a result of the described acts and intent that are necessary to make out the offense. The legislature has followed an accepted pattern of treating defendants on the basis of the types of acts committed in order to prescribe punishment. The acts are the products of the culpable mental state partially described above. The presumption, with regard to the issue set forth, is that the offense of negligent homicide is not a lesser included offense of manslaughter, vis-a-vis recklessly and with criminal negligence. Here the burden of proof does not lessen because the elements are different.

It will be argued that one ought to be aware of that which he is aware of, but an examination of the most significant

differences in the subsections of the statute deal with "...its disregard..." as the reckless element as opposed to "...the failure to perceive it..." in the criminally negligent element; the former being an active disregard of the risk, the latter being a passive oblivion regarding the risk.

State v. Howard, 597 P.2d 878, stands for the proposition that negligent homicide is not a lesser included offense of the charge of manslaughter. Paragraph (3) of Section 76-1-402, Utah Criminal Code, provides as follows:

"A defendant may be convicted of an offense included in the offense charged, but may not be convicted of both the offense charged and the included offense. An offense is so included when:

"(a) It is established by proof of the same or less than all the facts required to establish the commission of the offense charged; or

"(b) It constitutes an attempt, solicitation, conspiracy or form of preparation to commit the offense charged or an offense otherwise included therein; or

"(c) It is specifically designated by a statute as a lesser included offense."

Subparagraph (c) is not helpful in that nowhere in the Utah Criminal Code is negligent homicide specified as a lesser included offense of manslaughter.

Subparagraph (b) is also of no help in that the offense of negligent homicide is not an inchoate offense. It is a completed act and in no way can be considered an attempt, solicitation, conspiracy or form of preparation for the crime of manslaughter.

Subparagraph (a) needs to be considered in light of the comparison given above; however, negligent homicide in no way can be considered a lesser included offense of manslaughter under the

circumstances provided in subparagraphs (b) and (c) to paragraph 1 of Section 76-5-205, Utah Criminal Code.

The following portion of respondent's (State of Utah) Brief in the case of State vs. Boggess, (Case No. 16232) is quoted in support of defendant's position

"STATUTORY AND CASE LAW SUPPORT THE FINDING THAT NEGLIGENT HOMICIDE IS NOT A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF MAN-SLAUGHTER OR SECOND DEGREE MURDER.

"The analysis in the respondent's initial Brief (P. 5-8) has been adopted by this Court in State v. Hendricks, 695 P.2d 633 (Utah, 1979) where this Court determined that criminal trespass possessed intent elements which differed from the alleged greater offense of burglary. Thus, proof of burglary does not 'necessarily include proof of all the elements necessary to prove the lesser' crime of criminal trespass, and in accordance with the standard established in State v. Brennan, 13 Utah 2d 195, 371 P.2d 27 (1962) criminal trespass is not a lesser included offense of burglary. Similar to that case, in the present case the alleged lesser included offense contains a mental element which distinguishes it from the alleged greater offense of manslaughter and second degree murder. The crimes of second degree murder and manslaughter contained a different element of intent than that required for a conviction of negligent homicide. The difference, when read in light of the Hendricks and Brennan, supra, line of cases, demonstrates that negligent homicide is not necessarily a lesser included offense of manslaughter or second degree murder."

POINT III

THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL IS INSUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN A VERDICT OF GUILTY TO THE CHARGE OF NEGLIGENT HOMICIDE.

Criminal negligence is defined in Section 76-2-103 (4) as follows:

"With criminal negligence or is criminally negligent with respect to circumstances surrounding his conduct or the result of his conduct when he ought to be aware of a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the circumstances exist or the result will occur. The risk must be of such a nature and degree that the failure to perceive it constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that an ordinary person would exercise in all the circumstances as viewed from the actor's standpoint."

The language of the statute seems to use a relatively large number of words to state that criminal negligence is acting where one ought to be aware of a certain risk. The types of risk that may come within the definition of "certain risk" are uncertain.

Nevertheless, it is important to remember that the application is subjective, "...as viewed from the actor's viewpoint." [Section 76-2-103 (4), Utah Criminal Code].

The evidence presented by the State at trial is summarized as follows:

(a) That during the period before the shooting, defendant, in the presence of victim, had been arguing with Robert Dyer (brother) during which time defendant had been consuming intoxicating liquor.

(b) That upon the three returning home from the Forrest Inn, brother took the keys to defendant's car, thereby prohibiting defendant from going elsewhere.

(c) Victim went upstairs to brother's room and was not heard from between that time and the time of the shooting.

(d) That brother knew that defendant had been drinking intoxicating liquor and continued to press the argument.

(e) That brother struck defendant several times, began choking him, and then let him up when he felt shame for taking advantage of defendant.

(f) That defendant went straight to his bedroom and had the rifle out when brother reached the doorway.

(g) That defendant could not see the victim when the rifle accidentally discharged.

(h) That the discharge of the rifle was not

intentional, but was an accident.

(i) That victim was struck in the face by a portion of the projectile after it passed through the door jam, resulting in her death.

There is no evidence before the Court that the defendant loaded the rifle or knew that it was loaded. The argument had terminated prior to the time that the gun was accidentally discharged. Defendant's contention is that sufficient proof is necessary to sustain a conviction.

The Court's finding was that "...the evidence is not convincing that the defendant intentionally pulled the trigger on the rifle..." (R. 355, Line 8 - 10) It seems that the Court's judgment at that point may have been based upon other considerations, but that the quoted finding was the most obvious fact that precluded a finding of guilty to the charge of manslaughter. Had the evidence convinced the Court that the trigger had been intentionally pulled in a careless act of frustration, the "from the actor's standpoint" issue would have been seriously analyzed in order to find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt to the charge of manslaughter.

It is important to remember that the evidence was that the gun was not pointed at anyone, the gun was never used to threaten anyone, and the gun was not part of the argument. The argument was over prior to the accidental shooting.

CONCLUSION