1983

State of Utah v. Thomas F. Dyer : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was originally charged with Murder in the second degree, a first-degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-203 (1953), as amended, in the shooting death of Nina Marie Fuelleman. The charge was later amended to manslaughter, a second-degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann., § 76-5-205 (1953), as amended.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant was tried without a jury on March 3 and 4, 1982, the Honorable J. Robert Bullock presiding, in the Fourth Judicial District Court. Appellant was convicted of manslaughter on March 4, 1982. Sentence of one year in the Utah County Jail and a \$1,000 fine were imposed on March 26, 1982. A Certificate of Probable Cause was granted on April 13, 1982 and execution of the sentence stayed pending this appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks an order of this Court affirming the judgment of the court below.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the evening of August 20, 1982, appellant, his brother Rob, and Nina Fuelleman went to a private club in American Fork for cocktails (R. 286). All three drank and Rob testified that he was mildly intoxicated, but that appellant "was in the bag" (R. 286, 304). On the way home, at approximately 1:00 to 1:15 a.m. of August 21, appellant drove the car (R. 287, 288). When the three reached the house in which appellant and Rob lived, appellant announced he was going to his girlfriend's home and Rob took the car keys away from him (R. 284, 288). An argument ensued in which appellant threw money and crumpled checks at Rob (R. 289). Rob grabbed appellant by the throat because he "couldn't get a word in edgewise" and proceeded to strangle and hit appellant (R. 289-290). A neighbor testified that she heard male voices coming from Rob and appellant's house at approximately 1:30 a.m., a minute or two after she observed people getting out of a car and entering the house (R. 277, 278). The voices were saying "I'm going to get this Fucking thing over with. I'm tired of being lied to." " I haven't been lying to you." "The Fuck you haven't" (R. 279).

After hitting appellant several times, Rob let him go because he "felt sorry for taking advantage of him" (R. 290). Less than 30 seconds after the fighting stopped, Rob went to the doorway of appellant's bedroom and saw him backing out of the closet with a gun in his hand (R. 291-292). The gun was a 30-30 caliber Winchester Western rifle (R. 314). Approximately 10 seconds later, Rob saw the gun explode (R. 294). Appellant was standing near a dresser, the top drawer of which was standing open when the police officers arrived, when the shot was fired (R. 240-241, 292). The drawer contained two spent cartridges and a box of 30-30 caliber ammunition (R. 241). On the floor, near the closet, was a gun scabbard (R. 239; see also Exhibit 14). Rob testified that the gun was held above appellant's hip but below his shoulder (R. 297). Rob did not see or hear the gun being loaded or cocked nor did he remember anything being said by anyone during that time (R. 297). The neighbor testified that she heard a male voice say "Fuck. Not that. Not that. Oh, my god, not that" just before she heard the gunshot (R. 280).

When the gun fired, the bullet struck the door frame approximately 5 feet above the floor (R. 246). After passing through the door frame, the jacket separated from the slug (R. 247). The jacket struck Nina Fuelleman in the face and the slug stuck in the opposite wall and later fell to the floor (R. 219, 225, 240). Rob testified that Nina had been upstairs

during the fight and that he was not aware she had come downstairs until he saw her on the floor after the shot (R. 299). The gun had been pointed in Rob's direction when it fired, and the bullethole in the door frame was only two feet from him (R. 298, 312). Rob said, however, that he was never frightened and that the argument was over by the time he went to appellant's bedroom (R. 308-309, 311).

A gunsmith testified that the gun involved was in perfect condition (R. 263). The trigger pull had been lightened by a gunsmith from the factory setting but was average for a rifle that had been worked on by a gunsmith (R. 263, 266). Many rifles have trigger pulls that are as much as one pound lighter than this one (R. 266). The trigger pull was heavy enough that it would take a conscious effort to pull the trigger (R. 263). The rifle couldn't be fired without pulling the trigger and the hammer wouldn't fall without pulling the trigger (R. 268).

Appellant at first told the police that he and Rob were discussing the deer hunt and admiring the gun when it went off accidentally (R. 209, 300), but appellant did not testify at trial. Rob, however, said that he heard appellant tell that story to the police, that it was not true, and that he was surprised when appellant said it (R. 300). Exhibits 17, 18 and 19 show that the line of fire based on the angle of the bullethole through the wall would be consistent with the

rifle being held at or just below the shoulder in an aimed position. Conflicting testimony was given indicating that the gun may have been held in a lower position when it fired (R. 329).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT MAY, AT ITS DISCRETION, CONSIDER A LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE WHETHER REQUESTED BY DEFENSE COUNSEL OR NOT.

Appellant assigns error to the trial court's consideration of a lesser offense included within the offense charged because, appellant asserts, it denied him the benefit of resting on his theory of the case; i.e., that he was totally innocent of any wrongdoing. Such an attempt at alleging error has previously been considered and rejected by this Court.

In State v. Howell, Utah, 649 P.2d 91 (1982), the defendant, faced with charges of first- and second-degree murder and attempted murder, chose to oppose instructions on the lesser included offenses of manslaughter and attempted manslaughter in the hope of escaping all criminal liability. This Court, in determining that the trial court could properly instruct on the lesser included offense, said:

If one were to view a trial as a strictly adversarial contest or combat between two parties, one could argue that a defendant

should have the right to win or lose solely on the basis of what the prosecution has charged. However, a criminal trial is much more than just a contest between the State and an individual which is determined by strategies appropriate to determining the outcome of a game. A primary purpose of a criminal trial is the vindication of the laws of a civilized society against those who are guilty of transgressing those laws.

. . .
[W]hen evidence of a defendant's criminal conduct has been placed before a court of justice, even though that conduct has not been specifically charged, it would be a mockery of our criminal laws for a court to ignore a proved crime and acquit on the charged crime, when the defendant is not prejudiced in presenting a full and complete defense to the proved crime.

Id. at 94, 95. The Court went on to say that:

Under the Utah definition of a lesser included offense, there can be no unfairness to the defendant in giving a lesser included offense instruction because of lack of notice or preparation since no element may be included in the lesser offense that is not included in the greater offense [citations and footnote omitted].

Id. at 95. Thus, the Court held that it is proper for a trial court to give a lesser included offense instruction, even though the defendant objects, if he is afforded a "full and fair opportunity to defend himself." Id. In the instant case there was no jury to instruct; however, it is also proper for a judge, sitting as the fact finder, to consider a lesser included offense when the circumstances of the case indicate

that the defendant may be guilty of the lesser offense even though he is not guilty of the offense charged.

Appellant further claims that the consideration of the lesser offense in this case twice placed him in jeopardy for the same offense. However, that proposition does not apply to the facts of this case. It cannot be said that appellant was placed in double jeopardy where he was not acquitted of the charge of manslaughter and then recharged in a new information with that same offense. Rather, the appellant here was found guilty of a different, lesser offense than that charged, albeit on the same set of facts, within the same proceeding and without a new information. To hold that the finding of guilt in this case constituted double jeopardy would be to hold that no defendant could ever be found guilty of a lesser included offense because the fact finder must first find him not guilty of the offense charged. Such a result flies in the face of the concepts of justice and fair dealing accepted by our courts. See, generally, State v. Whitman, 93 Utah 557, 74 P.2d 696 (1937); Green v. United States, 355 U.S. 184 (1957).

Appellant further claims that respondent's brief in State v. Boggess, Utah, 655 P.2d 654 (1982), supports his position that the trial court may not consider a lesser included offense absent a specific request by the defendant. That case, however, arose in a different context from the case at bar. In Boggess, the defendant did not request an

instruction on the lesser included offense and none was given. On appeal, the defendant claimed that it was error not to consider a lesser offense in such a situation. Bogges, therefore, is not apposite to this case.

POINT II

NEGLIGENT HOMICIDE IS A LESSER OFFENSE INCLUDED IN THE OFFENSE OF MANSLAUGHTER.

Utah Code Ann., § 76-1-402 (1953), as amended, sets out the requirements for lesser included offenses. That section provides, in pertinent part:

- (3) A defendant may be convicted of an offense included in the offense charged . . . An offense is so included when:
 - (a) It is established by proof of the same or less than all the facts required to establish the commission of the offense charged.

Appellant argues that a comparison of the elements of manslaughter with the elements of negligent homicide results in a finding that negligent homicide is not a lesser offense in manslaughter. Such a comparison, however, results in a finding that the difference between the two offenses is merely one of degree rather than substance. The elements of manslaughter are as follows:

- (1) Criminal homicide constitutes manslaughter if the actor:
 - (a) Recklessly causes the death of another; or

(b) Causes the death of another under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance for which there is a reasonable explanation or excuse;

(c) Causes the death of another under circumstances where the actor reasonably believes the circumstances provide a moral or legal justification or extenuation for his conduct although the conduct is not legally justifiable or excusable under the existing circumstances.

Utah Code Ann., § 76-5-205 (1953), as amended. Negligent homicide is defined as follows:

(1) Criminal homicide constitutes negligent homicide if the actor, acting with criminal negligence, causes the death of another.

Utah Code Ann., § 76-5-206 (1953), as amended. Appellant first contends that negligent homicide cannot be a lesser included offense of manslaughter because subsections (b) and (c) of the manslaughter statute require proof of facts other than reckless conduct. There is nothing, however, in the Utah Code that prevents one definition of a crime from including lesser offenses that are not included within the alternate definitions of the greater offense. While negligent homicide might not properly be considered where the facts of a particular case support either alternative (b) or (c) of § 76-5-205, the facts of this case support only alternative (a). There was nothing at trial that showed appellant suffered from extreme mental or emotional disturbance or that appellant felt justified in the shooting death of Nina Fuelleman. Therefore,

only alternative (a) need be considered in a comparison of the two offenses.

The difference between the two offenses is that manslaughter requires the actor to act recklessly and negligent homicide requires criminal negligence. These two terms are defined as follows:

A person engages in conduct:

• • •
(3) Recklessly, or maliciously, with respect to circumstances surrounding his conduct or the result of his conduct when he is aware of but consciously disregards a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the circumstances exist or the result will occur. The risk must be of such a nature and degree that its disregard constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that an ordinary person would exercise under all the circumstances as viewed from the actor's standpoint.

(4) With criminal negligence or is criminally negligent with respect to circumstances surrounding his conduct or the result of his conduct when he ought to be aware of a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the circumstances exist or the result will occur. The risk must be of such a nature and degree that the failure to perceive it constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that an ordinary person would exercise in all the circumstances as viewed from the actor's standpoint.

Utah Code Ann., § 76-2-103 (1953), as amended. The only difference between reckless and criminally negligent conduct is whether a person perceives a risk and consciously disregards it or fails to perceive a risk he ought to have

been aware of. The risk in both cases must be of such a degree that an ordinary person would not disregard or fail to recognize it. The distinction, then, is merely a matter of proof of less or more facts establishing the mental state of the actor and is one of degree; i.e., perception and disregard or failure to perceive.

Appellant next cites State v. Howard, Utah, 597 P.2d 878 (1979) as standing for the proposition that negligent homicide is not a lesser offense included in manslaughter. That, however, is not the holding of the case. In Howard, this Court said that the failure to instruct on the lesser included offense of negligent homicide was not error because it was not supported by any reasonable view of the facts in that case. This holding does not rule out the inclusion of negligent homicide as a lesser offense in other cases, only in that case.

Last, appellant cites to respondent's brief in State v. Boggess, supra, to support his position that negligent homicide is not a lesser included offense. Although the respondent's brief in that case made a similar argument, it is not applicable in the instant case. This Court decided Boggess on September 13, 1982, and specifically declined to decide whether negligent homicide is a lesser included offense because no "reasonable view of the evidence as to defendant's intent . . . [would] support a verdict of guilty of negligent homicide." Boggess at 655. Justice Stewart, in his

concurring opinion, however, argued that negligent homicide is a lesser included offense of manslaughter. He said that:

The gravamen of the crime of negligent homicide is the same as that for reckless manslaughter. The only distinction between the two crimes is the mental state of the defendant at the time the crime was committed. In one, the actor perceives the risk but unreasonably disregards it; in the other, he simply negligently fails to perceive the risk.

. . .
Courts generally have held that negligent homicide is a lesser included offense of reckless manslaughter. E.G., State v. Parker, 128 Ariz. 107, 624 P.2d 304 (1980); Lowe v. State, 264 Ark. 205, 570 S.W.2d 253 (1978); Till v. People, Colo., 581 P.2d 299 (1978); State v. Smith, Conn. 441 A.2d 84 (1981); People v. Strong, 37 N.Y.2d 568, 338 N.E.2d 602, 376 N.Y.S.2d 87 (1975); State v. Cameron, 121 N.H. 348, 430 A.2d 138 (1981); Aliff v. State, Tex. Cr. App., 627 S.W.2d 166 (1982). See State v. Mattingly, 23 Or. App. 173, 541 P.2d 1063 (1975).

Bogges at 656, Stewart, J. (concurring). In a further clarification, Justice Stewart stated that:

The difference between negligence and recklessness is not marked by a sharp analytical line. On the contrary, the difference generally lies in making a judgment as to where on a continuum of unreasonable conduct one's behavior passes from negligence to recklessness. In essence, it is a matter of judging when conduct is no longer just gray but dark gray.

Id. at 658. Because the difference in proof of negligent homicide and manslaughter lies merely upon the mental state

of the actor, the former is a lesser offense included within the latter. Both offenses require proof of the same facts outside of the mental state. The mental state required for negligent homicide is different from that required for manslaughter only in degree of perception of the risk. For this reason, it was proper for the trial judge, sitting as a fact finder, to consider negligent homicide as a lesser included offense in this case.

POINT III

THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN A
VERDICT OF GUILTY TO THE CHARGE OF
NEGLIGENT HOMICIDE.

Lastly, appellant contends that the evidence presented at trial is insufficient to justify his conviction of negligent homicide as a matter of law. This contention presumes that the fact finder must believe the evidence most favorable to appellant and ignore that which was unfavorable. The mere existence, however, of conflicting evidence or inferences is not sufficient to overturn a conviction. It is the finder of fact who is entitled to determine the credibility of witnesses and weight of the evidence. The evidence need not be "wholly conclusive" but need only be sufficient to support a finding by this Court that "reasonable minds would [not] entertain a reasonable doubt as to guilt." See State v. Howell, Utah, 649 P.2d 91, 97 (1982); and cases cited therein.

Clearly, there is sufficient evidence in this case to support the verdict. That evidence is that: (1) Appellant knew that Nina Fuelleman was somewhere in the house during the argument between Rob and himself because the three had come home together (R. 285-288); (2) immediately following the argument, appellant went to his bedroom and took out the rifle (R. 291-292); (3) live ammunition was found near where appellant was standing when the gun fired, supporting the inference that appellant loaded the gun or knew it was loaded (R. 241); (4) appellant was pointing the gun in the direction of his brother when it fired (R. 312); (5) the gun could not have fired unless the trigger were pulled with a conscious effort (R. 263); (6) the rifle was held at or near the shoulder, supporting the inference that appellant was aiming or attempting to aim the gun when it fired (R. 297; see also Exhibits 17, 18 and 19); (7) appellant lied to the police about why he was holding the gun, supporting the inference that the gun did not fire accidentally (R. 209, 300); and (8) the gun was fired while appellant held it, killing Nina Fuelleman (R. 294, 297).

From these facts, the trial court could very well have determined that if appellant was not aware of the risk that Nina Fuelleman would be killed by the discharge of the rifle, he should have been aware of that risk. Even if appellant was not aware of the risk that the gun was loaded, he should have been aware of that risk and therefore of the

further risk that the gun would fire and someone might be killed. Reasonable minds could not entertain a reasonable doubt that appellant was guilty of negligent homicide in failing to perceive such a risk. For this reason, the judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

It is within the trial judge's discretion to consider a lesser included offense where the interests of justice require it, even though the defense counsel does not request such a consideration and even though he may object. Because negligent homicide is a lesser offense included within the offense of manslaughter and there was sufficient evidence to support a finding of guilty of negligent homicide, the trial court did not err in considering negligent homicide as the offense of which appellant was guilty nor in finding him guilty. For these reasons, the judgment of the court below should be affirmed.